ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


A. 	 The circuit court abused its discretion by allowing expert testimony from Kathryn 
Spriggs concerning that invaded the province of the jury and impermissibly vouched 
for Ms. Mullen's credibility even though such testimony was irrelevant, confusing, 
misleading to the jury and unfairly prejudicial to Petitioner. 

B. 	 The circuit court abused its discretion by allowing Ms. Spriggs to testify as an expert 
witness as to domestic violence where Petitioner was not on trial for domestic violence. 
Such evidence was irrelevant and was confusing and misleading to the jury and was 
unfairly prejudicial to Petitioner. 

C. 	 The circuit court abused its discretion by allowing into evidence Petitioner's 2013 
Maryland second degree assault conviction against the claimed victim in this case as 
other acts evidence under Rule of Evidence 404(b) to show that the putative victim had 
a reason to fear Petitioner when such evidence was irrelevant, confusing, misleading 
and unfairly prejudicial. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. 	 The claimed kidnapping. 

On August 22, 2014, Petitioner was living in Hagerstown, Maryland. A.R at 236. He 

visited his four year old daughter Emberly who was living with her mother, Nichole Mullen, I in 

Smithsburg, Maryland. A.R. at 236. Petitioner stayed the nights of the 22nd to the 24th with Ms. 

Mullen, and her son from another relationship, and Emberly. A.R. at 233. 

On the morning of the 25th, after Ms. Mullen's son left for school, A.R. at 243, Petitioner, 

Ms. Mullen, and Emberly left Ms. Mullen's home to drop Petitioner off in Hagerstown and to 

drop Emberly off at a neighbor's home before Ms. Mullen went to work. A.R. at 243. They went 

to a convenience store. A.R. at 244. According to Ms. Mullen, Petitioner left his seat, went to the 

driver's side door, displayed a knife, and said it was going to be the worst day of her life. A.R. at 

244. Petitioner told her he was taking over. A.R. at 244. Although a police officer was present, 

Ms. Mullen testified she did nothing as she did not wish to escalate the situation. A.R. at 244. 

lMs. Mullen is referred to as Mullin in the transcript of the second day of trial. 
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They then went to Hagerstown City Hall where Petitioner was going to have the power 

turned on for a friend's shop. AR. at 250. Ms. Mullen testified that while there, Petitioner held 

her hand, telling her what a knife inserted in the body sounded like. A.R. at 280. 

Until this time the trio was in Maryland and it was then, and only then, they entered West 

Virginia. A.R. at 252. Petitioner threw the pair's cell phones out of the car. AR. at 253. Ms. 

Mullen testified Petitioner threatened and struck her. AR. at 253, 254. Ms. Mullen testified 

Petitioner threatened to carve an "M" on her face. AR. at 253. She persuaded Petitioner to 

return to Smithfield, Maryland. A.R. at 261. When they returned, she testified she did not call the 

police because Petitioner allegedly threatened to kill her if she did. AR. at 262. 

The next morning Ms. Mullen dropped Emberly and Petitioner off at Petitioner's 

residence and went to work. AR. at 263. Ms. Mullen thought Petitioner kept Emberly to ensure 

Ms. Mullen would not call the police. A.R. at 263. However, when Ms. Mullen got to work, her 

superior called the local police. A.R. at 263. Ms. Mullen obtained a custody order for Emberly. 

AR. at 264. 

Petitioner pled guilty in Maryland and was sentenced to three years incarceration. AR. at 

497. While serving his Maryland sentence, Petitioner was indicted in West Virginia on one count 

ofkidnapping and two counts of domestic battery arising out of the occurrence. AR. at 410-413. 

He was moved to West Virginia to stand trial. AR. at 70, 493-507. The circuit court dismissed 

the misdemeanor domestic battery counts the morning of trial as the one year statute of 

limitations applicable to misdemeanors had expired. A.R. at 130-132. 

Petitioner's defense was that Ms. Mullen had fabricated the incident based on the 

inconsistencies in her statement to the police and her testimony at trial. See, e.g., A.R. at 353 

(defense counsel arguing that "1 believe the evidence that was presented to you yesterday will 
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show Ms. Mullin's credibility is zero."); A.R. at 353 ("She had many different statements to 

Maryland State Police and to the West Virginia State Police. "). 

B. 	 The testimony from Kathryn Spriggs. 

Pretrial, the State disclosed its intent to call an expert witness, Katherine Spriggs, of the 

Shenandoah Women's Center under Rule of Evidence 702. A.R. at 420. The Petitioner filed a 

Motion in Limine objecting to this testimony because the testimony was irrelevant, its probative 

value was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect, and it risked confusing the issues or 

misleading the jury. A.R. at 76, 79, 422-423. Consistent with the pretrial disclosure, A.R. at 420, 

425, Ms. Spriggs testified to certain signs of domestic violence in the relationship. A.R. at 284

292. She also testified to alleged acts of domestic violence Petitioner supposedly inflicted on Ms. 

Mullen and conduct that specifically showed that Ms. Mullen was domestically abused. A.R. at 

293, 294, 295. She testified as to the so-called lethality index, A.R. at 290, which supposedly 

predicts the risk that the abuser in the relationship may kill the other partner. A.R. at 290. Ms. 

Spriggs testified that some of these factors were at play in Petitioner's relationship with Ms. 

Mullen. A.R. at 290-291. 

Finally, Ms. Spriggs also provided in conclusion: 

Q. 	 Ms. Spriggs, do you have an opinion to a reasonable degree of certainty in 
your field whether the actions of the victim, that is permitting the defendant to 

stay at her home after he had already abused her, keeping him involved in her 
life and the daughter's life, even during the kidnapping itself, failing to report 
the kidnapping or to seek medical attention after it happened and allowing him 

to stay the night after the kidnapping, whether that is consistent with being a 
victim ofdomestic abuse? 

A. 	 Yes, definitely. 

A.R. at 295-296. 
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C. The Rule 404(b) Evidence. 

Pretrial, the State also noticed its intent to rely upon Rule 404(b) evidence which was a 

conviction against Petitioner after a bench trial in Maryland in 2013. A.R. at 427-428. The 

Petitioner objected under Rule 403. A.R. at 108, 112-113. Petitioner was convicted of second 

degree assault, but not guilty of false imprisonment, malicious destruction of property under 

$500.00, and threat to commit arson. A.R. at 480. At trial, Ms. Mullen testified the 2013 

conviction resulted from Petitioner throwing her and causing her to injure her elbow because she 

did not take a Christmas tree down or sort the laundry quickly enough. A.R. at 247-248. The 

State claimed the conviction showed Ms. Mullen "was previously physically harmed by the 

defendant, was aware that he would follow through on threats to harm her, and to show the 

defendant's common scheme or plan to intimidate and control the victim though physical force." 

A.R. at 427. Petitioner asserted it was unrelated to why it was offered and was unfairly 

prejudicial. A.R. at 108. The circuit court held the conviction probative of Ms. Mullen's conduct 

and the prior knowledge of a violent threat Petitioner may have posed against her. A.R. at 112, 

431. It ruled the conviction more probative than prejudicial. A.R. at 112, 431. 

The circuit court provided a limiting instruction when the evidence was offered that its 

purpose was to show that Ms. Mullen had a justifiable fear of Petitioner, a fear that he would 

carry out his treats. A.R. at 246-47. The circuit court instructed the jury that the evidence was to 

be used to show lack of mistake and background knowledge that Ms. Mullen had of Petitioner 

that may have contributed to intimidating her. A.R. at, 335. 

The jury convicted Petitioner of kidnapping A.R. at 365, 414. The jury then heard 

sentencing evidence and refused to award Petitioner mercy. A.R. at 382-383, 416. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


The circuit court admitted Ms. Spriggs' testimony as an expert opinion under Rule 702. 

Ms. Spriggs testimony transgressed Rules 401, 403, and 702 in at least two ways. First, Ms. 

Spriggs testified as to the so-called lethality assessment index that purportedly measures the risk 

that one will be killed by a domestic partner. This evidence of future dangerousness is not 

relevant to the issue before the court, whether Petitioner kidnapped Ms. Mullen. Moreover, if it 

was relevant, the evidence violates the prohibitions of Rule 403 in that it is unfairly prejudicial, 

confusing, and misleading to the jury by leaving the jury with the impression they can judge 

future dangerousness in a guilty-innocence phase of a bifurcated proceeding. 

Second, Ms. Spriggs vouched for the credibility of Ms. Mullen in violation of this 

Court's precedents finding that such testimony is irrelevant, unhelpful, misleading and confusing 

to the jury. A witness may not testify as to that witness' belief about a victim's credibility, nor 

may the expert testify that the witness was the victim of a crime. Yet, the record is replete with 

testimony from Ms. Spriggs that both implicitly and explicitly vouched for the credibility of Ms. 

Mullen and implicitly and explicitly vouched that the kidnapping had actually occurred. 

Third, Ms. Spriggs testified repeatedly to evidence relating to domestic violence and that 

Ms. Mullen was the victim of domestic violence at Petitioner's hands. This evidence is 

inadmissible. It risked confusing and misleading the jury into believing Petitioner was on trial 

for domestic violence when he was not. It also risked painting Petitioner as a bad person who 

deserved punishment for past acts, not acts for which he was charged. 

Finally, the circuit court admitted Petitioner's 2013 Maryland second degree assault 

conviction as 404(b) evidence. This evidence is not relevant to this case. The jury did not need to 
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hear about the Maryland conviction because the testimony from Ms. Mullen was itself sufficient, 

ifbelieved, to sustain a jury verdict. 

Petitioner's conviction should be vacated and a new trial granted. 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The circuit court abused its discretion by allowing expert testimony from 
Kathryn Spriggs that invaded the province of the jury and impermissibly 
vouched for Ms. Mullen's credibility and which was irrelevant, confusing, 
misleading and unfairly prejudicial to Petitioner. 

"A trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application ofthe Rules of Evidence, are 

subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard." Syi. Pt. 4, State v. Rodoussakis, 204 W. 

Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998). The circuit court abused its discretion in admitting Ms. Spriggs' 

testimony. 

The circuit court admitted Ms. Spriggs' testimony as expert opinion under Rule 702. Ms. 

Spriggs' testimony transgressed Rules 401, 403, and 702 in at least two regards. First, Ms. 

Spriggs testified as to the so-called lethality assessment index that purportedly measures the risk 

that one will be killed by a domestic partner. This evidence of future dangerousness is not 

relevant and, if relevant, violates the prohibitions of Rule 403 in that it is unfairly prejudicial, 

confusing, and misleading to the jury. Second, Ms. Spriggs vouched for the credibility of Ms. 

Mullen in violation of this Court's precedent's finding that such testimony is irrelevant, 

unhelpful, misleading, confusing to the jury, and unfairly prejudicial. 

1. 	 Ms. Spriggs' testimony concerning the lethality assessment index. 

a. 	 The Lethality Assessment Index is irrelevant as to guilt or innocence. 

Irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. R. Evid. 402. Evidence is only relevant when "it has 

any tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence; and the 

fact is of consequence in determining the action." R. Evid. 401(a) & (b). "Evidence which is 
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irrelevant or immaterial and has no probative value in determining any material issue is 

inadmissible and should be excluded." Syl. Pt. 1, Smith v. Edward M. Rude Carrier Corp., 151 

W.Va. 322, 151 S.E.2d 738 (1966). Evidence related to the lethality assessment index should 

have been excluded since it is irrelevant. 

It is a bedrock principle ofAnglo-American criminal law that one may be convicted only 

for what one has done, not for what one might do. Claims a defendant may act a certain way in 

the future, that they may pose a future dangerousness, are not relevant to guilt or innocence for 

which a defendant is on trial. "To permit this type of ~vidence could cause a defendant to be 

convicted for what he might do rather than for what he has done." Pugh v. State, 781 P.2d 843, 

846 (Okla. 1989) (Lane, J.). As the United States Supreme Court has observed, "[a]rguments 

relating to a defendant's future dangerousness ordinarily would be inappropriate at the guilt 

phase of a trial, as the jury is not free to convict a defendant simply because he poses a future 

danger; nor is a defendant's future dangerousness likely relevant to the question whether each 

element of an alleged offense has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt." See also Mason v. 

State, 548 S.E.2d 298,301 (Ga. 2001) ("While a defendant's probable future behavior is relevant 

in the sentencing phase of a capital case, it is not relevant where, as here, the jury decides only 

the defendant's guilt or innocence."); Miller v. State, 770 S.W.2d 865, 867 (Tex. App. 1989) 

("In a non-capital case, evidence of future dangerousness is not admissible at either the guilt or 

punishment phase of the triaL"); Phyllis L. Crocker, Concepts of Culpability and 

Deathworthiness: Differentiating Between Guilt and Punishment in Death Penalty Cases, 66 

Fordham L. Rev. 21, 49 (1997) ("Assessing whether a defendant may be dangerous in the future 

is not relevant to the guilt-phase inquiry[.]"). 
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Finally, the gravamen of the State's position is Ms. Spriggs' testimony helped the jurors 

understand her behavior. But if one is unaware of a fact or circumstance, it can have no bearing 

on that person. Obviously, one "cannot be influenced or moved ... by a fact or circumstance of 

which [s]he is ignorant." Mullins v. Commonwealth, 75 S.B. 193, 195 (Va. 1912). Thus, the so

called lethality index could have no bearing on what Ms. Mullen believed about Petitioner 

because she never testified she knew anything about the lethality index. The lethality index could 

not prove anything as to Ms. Mullen's behaviors and, as such, it was irrelevant. 

The circuit court should be reversed and a new trial awarded. 

b. 	 The probative value of Ms. Spriggs' testimony concerning the lethality 
index was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect and risked 
confusing or misleading the jury. 

Even if relevant Ms. Spriggs' testimony is inadmissible under Rule of Evidence 403? 

"Rule 403 plays an important role in the admissibility of almost all evidence, including expert 

testimony. The fact that particular expert evidence might be unfairly prejudicial or tend to 

mislead or confuse a jury can constitute grounds for exclusion of this evidence at trial [.]" 2 Louis 

1. Palmer & Robin Jean Davis, Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers § 702.02[2] 

(5th ed. 2012). Normally, "[t]he balance ofprejudice versus probative value required by Rule 403 

is reviewed for a clear showing of abuse of discretion[,]" McDougal v. McCammon, 193 W. Va. 

229, 236, 455 S.E.2d 788, 795 (1995), but because '" [e ]xpert evidence can be both powerful and 

quite misleading because of the difficulty in evaluating it . . . the judge in weighing possible 

prejudice against probative force under Rule 403 of the present rules exercises more control over 

2Rule of Evidence 403 provides, "[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative 
value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or 
misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation 
of cumulative evidence." 
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experts than over lay witnesses.'" Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., 509 U.S. 579, 595 {l993) 

(citation omitted). The circuit court abused its discretion in allowing Ms. Spriggs to testify. 

Ms. Spriggs testified to the so-called lethality index and whether Petitioner fell within it. 

A.R. at 290-291.This testimony was unfairly prejudicial and risked confusing the issues or 

misleading the jury because the jury's duty at the guilt-innocence phase of a bifurcated trial is to 

determine if the State has proven all the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State 

v. Finley, 219 W. Va. 747, 749 n.5, 639 S.E.2d 839, 841 n.5 (2006). Purported future 

dangerousness is not a consideration in the guilt-innocence stage of a bifurcated proceeding. To 

permit such evidence to go before the jury comes well within Rule 403' s prohibitions. "[I]t is 

improper to elicit at the guilt phase of a capital trial evidence of a defendant's future 

danger.ousness because such evidence, although relevant at the penalty phase, would tend only to 

confuse the jury in its consideration of whether the defendant was guilty of committing the 

offense." Ex parte Boyd, 715 So. 2d 852, 854 (Ala. 1998). 

Moreover, the unfair prejudice Ms. Spriggs' testimony engendered was particularly 

acute. First, lethality assessment indexes have been criticized in the past and its admissibility has 

been found wanting. Petriciolet v. State, 442 S.W.3d 643, 653 (Tex. Ct. App. 2014). Second, as 

to the questionable lethality assessment index, Ms. Spriggs testified as an expert witness. As this 

Court has identified, "[l]ay jurors tend to give considerable weight to 'scientific' evidence when 

presented by 'experts' with impressive credentials." State v. Leep, 212 W. Va. 57, 71, 569 S.E.2d 

133, 147 (2002) (quoting California v. Kelly, 549 P.2d 1240, 1245 (Cal. 1976)). And as this 

Court has identified "[t]here is the danger that the jury will place too much emphasis on the 

testimony of the witness because ofhis or her status as an expert[.]" State v. McCoy, 179 W. Va. 

223, 228, 366 S.E.2d 731, 736 (1988). In short, "[i]n the context of a criminal trial, expert 
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scientific testimony solicits the danger of undue prejudice or confusing the issues or misleading 

the jury because of its aura of special reliability and trustworthiness." State v. Ballard, 855 

S.W.2d 557, 561 (Tenn. 1993). The risks associated with Ms. Spriggs' testimony falls well 

within the prohibitions of Rule 403. Because of the aura of scientific evidence, the jury could 

have given the Spriggs' testimony undue weight and permitted it to impermissibly bolster Ms. 

Mullen's testimony. The circuit court abused its discretion in admitting the evidence. 

2. 	 Ms. Spriggs impermissibly invaded thejury's province in vouching/or Ms. 
Mullen's credibility. 

Ms. Spriggs' testimony impermissibly invaded the jury's province by impermissibly 

vouching Ms. Mullen's testimony, a crucial aspect of Petitioner's defense. See, e.g., A.R. at 353 

(defense closing argument that "Ms. Mullin's credibility is zero.") 

When the State introduces expert testimony of psychological syndromes the expert may, 

based on objective findings, opine whether the claimed victim comports with the psychological 

and behavioral profile. See Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Edward Charles L., 183 W. Va. 641, 398 S.E.2d 

123 (1990). The expert may not opine he or she personally believes the witness or personally 

believes the defendant committed a crime, either implicitly or explicitly, as such opinions 

improperly and prejudicially invade the jury's province. Syl. Pt. 7, Edward Charles L.; Syl. Pt. 2, 

State v. McCoy, 179 W. Va. 223, 366 S.E.2d 731 (1988). Yet that is precisely what occurred in 

the instant case. Indeed, this case is legally indistinguishable from State v. McCoy. 

In McCoy, McCoy was convicted of second degree sexual assault against a consent 

defense. The State called an expert witness who testified the victim's behavior conformed to 

someone who had been sexually assaulted. Id. at 225-26, 366 S.E.2d at 733. The expert further 

stated the victim was "'still traumatized by this experience.'" ld. at 226, 336 S.E.2d at 733. This 
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Court held the testimony inadmissible, as the expert's "reference to this experience was 

tantamount to an opinion that [the claimed victim] had, in fact, been raped by the defendant" and 

"amounted to a statement that she believed the alleged victim, and by virtue of her expert status 

she was in a position to help the jury determine the credibility of the most important witness in a 

rape prosecution." 179 W. Va. at 229,366 S.E.2d at 737. Thus, the expert's "conclusion that she 

believed that [the claimed victim] had been raped 'encroach[ ed] too far upon the exclusive

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