ALLEGED ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The Circuit Court erred and abused its discretion when it permitted the testimony 
of the State's expert witness, whose testimony unfairly prejudiced the Petitioner. 

II. The Circuit Court erred and abused its discretion when it permitted irrelevant 
testimony of the State's expert witness. 

III. The Circuit Court erred and abused its discretion when it permitted the State to 
introduce evidence pursuant to Rule of Evidence 404(b).

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court properly exercised its discretion in the admission of evidence, 

including the admission of expert testimony and 404(b) evidence. The Petitioner argues that he 

was prejudiced by the admission of such evidence, all of which he claims "was irrelevant, [ ] 

confusing and misleading to the jury and was unfairly prejudicial" to him. However, a circuit 

court's rulings on the "admission ofevidence [is] only for an abuse of discretion. Only rarely 

and in extraordinary circumstances will [this Court] from the vista of a cold appellate record, 

reverse a circuit court's on-the-spotjudgment concerning the relative weighing ofprobative 

value and unfair effect." 

The admission of evidence under 404(b) is permissible provided that the trial court 

complies with the requirements of State v. McGinnis, 193 W.Va. 147,455 S.E.2d 516 (1994), to 

prove proof ofmotive, opportunity, intent preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of 

mistake or accident. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondent affirmatively states pursuant to Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a), that oral 

argument is not necessary in that the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided, unless 

the Court, in its discretion and pursuant to Rule 19(a), determines that oral argument is necessary 

and shall be held. 

ARGUMENT 

The Defendant's three grounds for appeal all assert that the circuit court abused its 

discretion in the admission of evidence. Circuit courts in West Virginia are subject to review by 

this Court for an abuse of discretion in relation to evidentiary rulings. The circuit court here did 

not abuse its discretion in making evidentiary rulings, thus, those rulings should not be disturbed 

on appeal. 

In Syllabus Point 5 of State v. Davis, 232 W.Va. 398, 752 S.E.2d 429 (2013), this Court 

reiterated its prior holdings regarding a trial court's discretion to admit evidence: 

" , " 'Rulings on the admissibility ofevidence are largely within a 
trial court's sound discretion and should not be disturbed unless 
there has been an abuse of discretion.' State v. Louk, 171 W.Va. 
639,301 S.E.2d 596 (1983)." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Peyatt, 173 W.Va. 
317,315 S.E.2d 574 (1983)' Syl. Pt. 1,State v. Shrewsbury, 213 
W.Va. 327, 582 S.E.2d 774 (2003)." Syl. Pt. 1 State v. Kaufman, 
227 W.Va. 537, 711 S.E.2d 607 (2011). 

In State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 306,470 S.E.2d 613,625 (1996), this Court wrote that, 

"[t]ypically, appellate courts give trial judges a wide berth of respect with regards to these kinds 

of discretionary judgments." The LaRock court further noted that: 

In note 6 of Gentry v. Mangum, 195 W.Va. 512, 520, 466 S.E.2d 
171, 179 (1995), we made clear that an abuse of discretion 
standard is not appellant friendly: 
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"We review these rulings only for an abuse of discretion. 
Only rarely and in extraordinary circumstances will we, 
from the vista of a cold appellate record, reverse a circuit 
court's on-the-spotjudgment concerning the relative 
weighing of probative value and unfair effect. Our review, 
however, must have some purpose and that is why we 
review under the abuse of discretion standard. In general, 
an abuse of discretion occurs when a material factor 
deserving significant weight is ignored, when an improper 
factor is relied upon, or when all proper and no improper 
factors are assessed but the circuit court makes a serious 
mistake in weighing them." 

196 W.Va. at 306-7, 470 S.E.2d at 625-6. 

I. 	 The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it permitted the introduction of 
evidence, including the admission of the State's expert witness' testimony. 

This court has held that, "[t]he decision to admit or reject expert evidence is committed to 

the sound discretion of a trial court, and the court's determinations are reviewable only for an 

abuse of discretion." LaRock, supra. See Board ofEducation of McDowell County v. Zando, 

Martin & Milstead, Inc., 182 W.Va. 597.612,390 S.E.2d 796,811 (1990); Rozas v. Rozas, 176 

W.Va. 235,240,342 S.E.2d 201, 206 (1986). 

In his Petition for Appeal, the Petitioner argues that the State's expert witness' testimony 

violated Rules of Evidence 401, 403 and 702. Petition at 6. However, although the Petitioner 

generally objected at the pre-trial hearing to the admission of Ms. Sprigg's testimony, no 

objection on the grounds of the three Rules ofEvidence now argued to this Court was ever 

lodged at trial or pre-trial. 

This Court has repeatedly held that the failure to preserve error constitutes a waiver of 

that alleged error: 

This Court has recognized that "[w]hen there has been a knowing and 
intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right, there is 
no error and the inquiry as to the effect of a deviation from the rule of 
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law need not be determined." SyI. pt. 8, in part, State v. Miller, 194 
W.Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). Accord SyI. pt. 4, in part, State v. 
Lightner, 205 W.Va. 657,520 S.E.2d 654 (1999). Similarly, we have 
stated that "[g]enerally the failure to object constitutes a waiver of 
the right to raise the matter on appeal." State v. Asbury, 187 W.Va. 
87,91,415 S.E.2d 891, 895 (1992) (per curiam). 

Manor Care, Inc. v. Douglas, 234 W.Va. 57, 763 S.E.2d 73 (20 14)(emphasis added). At trial 

Petitioner neither objected, nor moved for a mistrial. Rather, at trial he did not object to the 

admission of the State's expert witness-the same witness which he now complains was 

improperly permitted to testify. Further, although the Petitioner objected generally to the 

admission of the expert witness' testimony, he did not cite to any Rule of Evidence to support his 

objection. Based upon the Petitioner's failure to preserve this alleged error there are no grounds 

for this court to now consider the matter. 

Nonetheless, even if this Court finds that the Petitioner's pre-trial objection preserved this 

error for consideration, the law does support any relief for the Petitioner. Circuit courts in West 

Virginia are afforded broad discretion in their evidentiary rulings, including the admissibility of 

expert testimony. The trial court summarized that the State's "expert would testify to a pattern 

of conduct in such abusive relationships and based that upon her years of experience and some 

training and scientific observation." A.R. 116:7 - 10. In its ruling permitting Ms. Spriggs to 

testify the court found: 

... Ms. Spriggs is a person who has been on the witness list for 
apparently some time, was noted as an expert and whose 
curricuh.llll vitae was given early enough to apprise the defense of 
what her area of expertise was and how she might be used by the 
State, and I think that [Petitioner's counsel] sort of knew that this 
was not a person who had contact with either the victim nor - the 
alleged victim or the alleged perpetrator but would be basing 
testimony upon the facts and evidence in the case as made known 
to her from the record so I think that that's [] where we are. It's 
hard for me to see how that comprises any substantial or unfair 
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surprise, and because of that, would permit the State to use its 
witness and-its expert witness and would not the objection. 

A.R. 118: 1 - 18. Thus, the lower court considered the objection of the Petitioner to the 

testimony generally, found that objection to be unfounded, and provided its rationale for 

admitting the evidence. The rationale provided by the circuit court did not constitute an abuse of 

discretion, but rather a proper consideration of the issues, and a proper exercise of discretion in 

determining that the testimony was admissible. 

The Petition devotes substantial time to addressing the admission of expert witness 

testimony regarding the lethality assessment index. This was the testimony: 

Q: Let me ask you about the lethality index. Can you describe 
what that is and what the purpose is? 
A: Sure. It's a method that we use when we interview victims 
that law enforcement use, they interview victims to see what the 
chances are that this relationship could end in the victim being 
killed by the person, so it's the chance. If six out often of these 
things are present, it's very likely that the perpetrator may kill the 
victim. Some of those, to give examples, if substance abuse is 
present, if the victim is leaving, they are much more likely to be 
harmed if the perpetrator is unemployed, if there is a child within 
the relationship that isn't the perpetrator's biological child, they are 
much more likely to murder, and ifthere's been stalking, 
strangulation, or weapons used, those are very common. 
Q: Let me ask you, in the case ofNicole Mullen, were some of 
those factors in play in the relationship she had with Mr. 
Blickenstaff? 
A: Definitely. She testified that weapon was shown to her, she 
was threatened. She does have a child that does not belong to him 
living in the home. It sounds like there is a history of substance 
abuse. She had testified to that. 
Q: Did this [kidnapping] occur at a time shortly after she had 
moved away from Mr. Blickenstaff? 

A: It sounds like, yes. 
Q: SO would that also have been a factor? 
A: Yes, So it definitely is more likely for the perpetrator to 
find the victim within a year after, but we have seen cases where 
it's been many years, especially when contact is maintained for a 
child. 
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A.R. 290:6 - 291 :12. Throughout this testimony regarding the lethality assessment index the 

Petitioner did not object. Such a failure to preserve error constituted a waiver of that error, 

pursuant to Syllabus Point 8 of State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). However, 

again, even if considered on the merits, the Petitioner's argument is not supported by the law. 

Petitioner cites to State v. McCoy, 179 W.Va. 223,366 S.E.2d 731 (1988) to suggest that 

the State's expert improperly invaded the province of the jury. However, the holding ofMcCoy 

was that, "Qualified expert testimony regarding rape trauma syndrome is relevant and admissible 

in a prosecution for rape where the defense is consent. The expert may testify that the alleged 

victim exhibits behavior consistent with rape trauma syndrome, but the expert may not give an 

opinion expressly or implicitly, as to whether or not the alleged victim was raped." Syllabus 

Point 2, McCoy. The holding ofMcCoy is inapplicable here. First, this case did not involve any 

allegation of sexual assault; second, the testimony of the State's expert did not concern or 

address rape trauma syndrome; third, the expert did not give an opinion as to whether the 

kidnapping occurred. 

Petitioner claims that "the most damning violations occurred at the end of Ms. Spriggs' 

testimony" when "Ms. Spriggs agreed that there was a kidnapping perpetrated by Petitioner." 

Petition at 13. However, what actually occurred was this: 

Q: Ms. Spriggs, do you have an opinion to a reasonable 
degree ofcertainty in yourfield whether the actions of the victim, 
that is permitting the defendant to stay at her home after he had 
already abused her, keeping him involved in her life and the 
daughter's life, even during the kidnapping itself, failing to report 
the kidnapping or seek medical treatment after it happened and 
allowing him to stay at her home the night after the kidnapping, 
whether that is consistent with being a victim ofdomestic abuse? 
A: Yes, definitely. 
Q: Why do you believe that those behaviors are all consistent 
with being a victim ofdomestic violence? 
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A: Because in this field, I unfortunately see this every day. I 
have served eight or 900 victims. Those trends are in all of them. 
It becomes learned behavior. They would do anything to survive 
and save their children. 

A.R. 295:22 - 296:12 (emphasis added). Ms. Spriggs as an expert was asked whether the 

evidence presented through Ms. Mullen's testimony was consistent with being a victim of 

domestic abuse or of domestic violence. She was not asked to provide an opinion as to whether 

the events occurred, just whether those events were consistent with the pattern of domestic 

abuse. 

"Whether a witness is qualified to state an opinion is a matter which rests within the 

discretion of the trial court and its ruling on that point will not ordinarily be disturbed unless it 

clearly appears that its discretion has been abused." Syllabus Point 5, Overton v. Fields, 145 

W.Va. 797, 117 S.E.2d 598 (1960). See Taylor v. Cabell Huntington Hospital, Inc., 208 W.Va. 

128, 136,538 S.E.2d 719, 727 (2000). The trial court determined in its pretrial hearing that the 

witness was qualified as an expert to offer an opinion. Thereafter, at trial she was asked for and 

provided an opinion regarding the pattern of domestic violence at play. She provided such an 

opinion consistent with her education, training and experience, which were determined by the 

circuit court to be sufficient to allow her to be recognized as an expert. Further, such an opinion 

was clearly within permissible grounds and did not invade the province of the jury by reaching 

any conclusion on the Petitioner's guilt. Moreover, the Petitioner did not object to that opinion 

at trial. For all these reasons, the circuit court did not err and its actions should not be disturbed 

upon appeal. 
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II. 	 The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it permitted the introduction of 
evidence pursuant to Rule of Evidence 404(b). 

The process for admitting evidence pursuant to Rule of Evidence 404(b) is well settled. 

"Where an offer of evidence is made under Rule 404(b) of the 
West Virginia Rules ofEvidence, the trial court, pursuant to Rule 
1 04( a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, is to detennine its 
admissibility. Before admitting the evidence, the trial court should 
conduct an in camera hearing as stated in State v. Dolin, 176 
W.Va. 688, 347 S.E.2d 208 (1986). After hearing the evidence and 
arguments of counsel, the trial court must be satisfied by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the acts or conduct occurred 
and that the defendant committed the acts. If the trial court does 
not find by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts or 
conduct was committed or that the defendant was the actor, the 
evidence should be excluded under Rule 404(b). If a sufficient 
showing has been made, the trial court must then detennine the 
relevancy of the evidence under Rules 401 and 402 of the West 
Virginia Rules of Evidence and conduct the balancing required 
under Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. If the trial 
court is then satisfied that the Rule 404(b) evidence is admissible, 
it should instruct the jury on the limited purpose for which such 
evidence has been admitted. A limiting instruction should be given 
at the time the evidence is offered, and we recommend that it be 
repeated in the trial court's general charge to the jury at the 
conclusion of the evidence." Syllabus point 2, State v. 
McGinnis, 193 W.Va. 147,455 S.E.2d 516 (1994). 

Syllabus Point 2, State v. Baker, 230 W.Va. 407, 738 S.E.2d 909 (2013). 

This Court has also held that where evidence of prior bad acts involves substantially 

similar conduct, similar circumstances and similar provocations to the offense charged such 

evidence may properly be admitted. State v. Winebarger, 217 W.Va. 117,617 S.E2d 467 

(2005); State v. Doman, 204 W.Va. 289, 512 S.E.2d 211 (1998). 

In Winebarger, this Court pennitted the admission of evidence that the defendant had 

twice before, five and fifteen years previously, brandished a weapon to demonstrate the 

defendant's intent and absence of accident or mistake in the instant prosecution. The Court 
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wrote that the defendant used handguns on those occasions "to gain the upper hand and have his 

way. This evidence tends to show the absence of mistake or accident." 

In Doman, this Court found that evidence ofa prior beating inflicted by the defendant 

upon an unrelated victim was admissible in a capital murder case involving a victim who was 

beaten to death, to show the defendant's plan or mode of operation, and because the defendant 

there believed both beating victims reported his drug activity to the police. Comparing the facts 

ofDoman to those presented sub judice, significantly here, the evidence of the Petitioner's prior 

beating of the same victim was permitted to show the Petitioner's plan or mode of operation, 

because the Petitioner believed that the victim was trying to leave him, and he used actual use of 

force and further threats of force against the victim. Here, after punching the victim in the face 

causing her tooth to completely pierce her upper lip, the Petitioner cut her under her chin with a 

knife and threatened to carve his initial "M" into her face so that no other man would want her. 

After transporting the victim with the intent to inflict bodily injury upon her, brandishing a knife 

at her, physically harming her with his fist and with the knife, threatening to kill her and 

otherwise terrorizing her, the Petitioner returned with Ms. Mullen to her home where he 

remained for another night, all with the intent to keep or claim Ms. Mullen as his own, including

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